



ESSENTIAL GUIDE TO EMPLOYING Domestic Staff While we have undertaken to research this guide, no liability or responsibility can be accepted for completeness, editorial and technical mistakes, omissions as well as for correctness of the contents. This guide provides details of third party websites but does not take on any responsibility or liability for their content.

No liability or responsibility can be taken for any actions taken, or consequences of any actions taken by any persons acting upon information contained within this guide. Content does not constitute legal or other professional advice and should not be relied upon as such. Any reliance on the content is therefore solely at the user's own risk. We would always recommend checking with an appropriate professional before any action, response or comment is made to any persons.

Please note that this guide reflects the law at the time of writing, and therefore is subject to change from time to time.

This guide, including without limitation text, logos and icons, is copyright material of The Graham Agency, unless otherwise stated. This guide is for the user's personal use only and copying of part or all of the contents in any form is prohibited.

Updated: 9 November 2015



Contents

Finding the RIGHT person to work in your home	4
How do I check if someone has the right to work in the UK?	4
What constitutes an "employee"?	5
Employing on a part-time basis	6
Registering as an employer	6
Is the person working for you an "employee" or "self-employed"?	7
Zero hours contracts – yes or no?	7
When a job offer is subject to a health check	8
Money, tax and benefits	9
PAYE	9
When to operate PAYE	9
Issuing pay statements	9
Using a payroll agency	10
Statutory Sick Pay	10
Statutory Maternity Pay, Ordinary and Additional Statutory Paternity Pay or Adoption Pay and Shared Parental Pay	10
Annual leave and holidays	11
Holiday entitlement	11
Building up and carrying over holiday entitlement	11
Calculating holiday pay	12
What is the National Minimum Wage?	12
How much guidance should you give your employees on carrying out their work?	12
Electrical equipment	13
Kitchens / food handling	13
When employees become ill	14
Don't pay employees in cash	15
Discrimination	15
Do I have to pay my employee a pension?	16
Pension deductions	16
What is the situation if your employee becomes pregnant / adopts - or their partner does?	16
Adoption	17
Shared Parental Leave	17
Flexible working	18
Terminating employment	19
When employees leave, do you have to write a reference?	19
About The Graham Agency	22



Finding the RIGHT person to work in your home

In recent years there has been a huge up-turn in the employment of domestic staff: housekeepers, nannies, carers, etc. In some cases families are so busy working there is simply not the time to do the things our mothers used to do, or perhaps we have ageing parents or other relatives increasingly in need of care and they wish to stay in the comfort and security of their own homes, so a live-in or live-out carer provides a potential solution.

It is essential that the most appropriate staff should be engaged and at The Graham Agency we would always recommend using an experienced agency to undertake this, i.e. not to advertise oneself. We can offer experience of: selecting the right staff, working with them, arranging aspects such as payroll, tax deductions, contracts of employment and establishing mutual working parameters that are necessary for the smooth functioning of the relationship.

The Graham Agency is, and has been for more than 26 years, consistently committed to providing the highest standards of personal service to clients and domestic staff candidates.

We pride ourselves on understanding the unique requirements of each client through personalised contact, discussion and appreciation of their individual circumstances. We recognise the special relationship between clients and their domestic staff, matching not just individual skills and experience, but also acting as both catalyst and link to establish a rapport for mutual benefit.

The Graham Agency – matching clients and prospective staff through personal service.

How do I check if someone has the right to work in the UK?

The UK government has an easy to use tool for checking someone's right to work, available at <u>https://www.gov.uk/legal-right-to-work-in-the-uk</u>. As rules may change dependent on rulings either from the UK government or the European Union, this provides the most up-to-date source of information.

You can be prosecuted for employing illegal workers, including students with expired visas, students working more hours than they're allowed to and people on a visitor's visas.

At the time of preparing this guide the fines for employing people illegally are severe, with penalties for those committing the offence being up to £10,000 per worker.

However, the UK government is strengthening its crackdown on the employment of illegal workers. In the forthcoming Immigration Bill, to be introduced in Autumn 2016, there will be new measures leading to those caught working illegally in England and Wales to be sentenced to up to six months in jail.

For an employer, claiming that one did not know that an employee was an illegal worker will not be an acceptable legal defence; an employer will have to show that they have carried out proper checks prior to offering a job. The maximum sentence for an employer found guilty will be raised from two to five years, in addition to the fines already available.



Details of existing penalties for employers employing illegal workers may be found at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/employers-illegal-working-penalties.

What constitutes an "employee"?

If you take someone on to work in your home, for example, a nanny, cleaner, carer or other domestic staff, their rights and obligations are dependent on whether or not they are an employee, self-employed contractor or a worker.

A worker is a broader category of staff (including employees) and may include, for example, those who are on the face of it a contractor but where there are certain factors that point towards employment. Therefore those who fail to reach the high mark necessary to qualify as employees may still qualify as workers. A worker is essentially a lower threshold.

Certain factors can determine employment status, including the amount of control you have over the person, whether they offer a personal service and the mutuality of your working obligations.

The employment status of an individual is important as certain important legal rights only apply if an individual is an employee. These rights include:

- Statutory Sick Pay
- Maternity leave
- Paternity leave
- Adoption leave and pay

Additionally an employee must have minimum notice periods if their employment is to end (e.g. if an employer is dismissing them). Many rights will also depend on whether the employee has the requisite length of service.

Employees also enjoy protection against unfair dismissal, have the right to request flexible working hours, and the right to receive statutory redundancy pay if they are made redundant. The web page www.gov.uk/redundant-your-rights explains this issue in detail.

Workers also have certain legal rights (for example the right to paid holiday and rest breaks). If you have never employed someone before, this can all sound a little daunting. However, at the time of preparing this Guide, advice is available by ringing the New Employer Helpline provided by HMRC (Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs) on 0300 200 3200, open 8.00am to 8.00pm, Monday to Friday, and 8.00am to 4.00pm on Saturdays.

If you are employing someone to work in your home, then by law, you will need to provide your employee with a written statement of their terms and conditions of employment within two months of their employment commencing (if their employment is continuing for a month or more). There are certain minimum terms that need to be included in the written statement. Failure to do so may lead to a tribunal awarding the employee two to four weeks' pay (capped at the statutory amount) where the employee has already brought a successful claim against you (for example for unfair dismissal). The employee is also entitled by law to itemised pay slips and written reasons for their termination.

The rights under a contract of employment are in addition to the rights under law, such as, for example, the right to a national minimum wage and the right to paid holidays.



Generally, you and your employee can agree to whatever terms you wish to be in the contract, but you cannot impose a contractual term which gives your employee fewer rights than provided for under law.

It is also worth noting that if a domestic employee is provided with accommodation as part of their terms and conditions, it is important that this is documented appropriately in order to prevent that employee attaining any property rights and to include the ability to remove the employee from the property on termination of their employment.

Employment status is also important to understand how they should be treated for tax purposes. If the person is an employee, you will be legally classed as their employer and will have to deduct income tax and National Insurance Contributions from their wages through the Pay As You Earn (PAYE) scheme. If they earn below a certain amount, you can operate a simplified PAYE scheme.

Whether or not a worker is an "employee" will depend on certain factors. See the HMRC ready check advice below for further guidance, although do note that just because a person is or is not treated as an employee by HMRC,

this does not necessarily mean they will be treated as such by an employment tribunal which may affect the types of legal claims they could bring. If you require further advice or guidance on this, it is best you seek legal advice.

Special rules apply to workers supplied and paid by agencies, which mean that the agency has to operate PAYE. If an agency supplies someone to work in your home and you (not the agency) pay the worker, contact HMRC to register as an employer. The Graham Agency can assist in this regard.

Employing on a part-time basis

Many families consider employing a member of domestic staff on a part-time basis, some for the reason that there is insufficient work for a full-timer, some to save money and some who feel they are not as legally committed to someone employed on this basis.

Whatever the reasons, there are several important points everyone should be aware of regarding the status of part-time staff against full-time staff.

With regards to the law, there is no legal definition of either full-time or part-time staff. They have equal rights regarding, for example, maternity, paternity and adoption leave (although payments depend on earnings) and holiday leave (adjusted pro-rata). All employees have the same rights in regard to grievance and disciplinary procedures.

Promotion and training opportunities should be available equally to all employees. If part-time workers feel they are treated less favourably than full-timers, they can ask for the reasons in writing and a response has to be given within a specified time frame.

At the end of the day, every client chooses the employee and nature of their employment which suits them best, but everyone needs to be aware of employer obligations irrespective of the hours an employee works.

Registering as an employer

Where you do have an obligation to operate PAYE you should contact HMRC to register as an employer. HMRC will then send you everything you need in the 'New Employer's Starter Pack'.



Is the person working for you an "employee" or "self-employed"?

There are special rules for deciding if someone is employed or self- employed. This is called their 'employment status'. If they are self-employed you don't need to worry about operating PAYE.

HMRC have prepared a useful guide if you wish to be absolutely sure of your position and this can be found at <u>www.hmrc.gov.uk/calcs/esi.htm</u>. The questions, provided by HMRC, are useful as a ready check.

Ask yourself the following questions and if the answers are YES, then they count as an "employee":

- Do you require the person to work for you on a regular basis, unless they are away on holiday, or on sick, maternity or paternity leave?
- Do you ask the person to work a minimum number of hours and do they expect to be paid for that time worked?
- Do you have to you to provide materials, tools and equipment for their work?
- Does the person work exclusively for you, OR do they have another job?

However if they DO have another job, then they are still an "employee" if that job is totally different from their work in your home.

If you have given the person a contract of employment (and/or an offer letter) and it specifies terms and conditions and uses such phrases as 'employer' and 'employee' then this may be indicative of their employment status. However note that HMRC and/or employment tribunals will look behind any contract and at the actual working relationship to decide whether someone is an 'employee'. They could decide, for example, that the contract purporting a person to be a worker or a contractor is a sham if it does not reflect the actual working arrangements.

It is worth remembering that although a person may be an employee in the context of employment law HMRC may regard them as having a different employment status for tax purposes.

Zero hours contracts – yes or no?

Zero hours contracts are a relatively new innovation in the work arena and are not without their issues. On the face of it, they appear to provide a means whereby you only pay for someone when they are actually working for you. Typically a zero hour contract sets out that the person is a worker rather than an employee. However this does not necessarily mean that an employment relationship cannot be found by either HMRC or a tribunal.

So what does a zero hours contract mean, and can you offer one to the domestic staff you find?

Basically it is the name given to a "contract" or agreement in which the employer makes it clear that there is no obligation to provide a minimum number of hours of work and the worker is only paid for the hours they actually work. On the other hand, there is no obligation for the individual to accept any of the hours of work offered.

There has been a lot of negative press recently about the use of zero hour contracts which include claims that such contracts exploit workers (given that they purport to deprive workers of employment rights and such workers can be left without work for indefinite periods of time). From 25 June 2014, any provision in a zero hours contract which prevents the worker from working elsewhere or from doing so without the



employer's consent will be void. It can also be incredibly complicated to work out issues such as holiday entitlements and tax obligations under such contracts. Further, the fact that the worker could decline to work may not suit all employers. Therefore, we would probably recommend that in the first instance, you use a standard employment contract. However, please do contact us if you would like further information on zero hour contracts.

When a job offer is subject to a health check

When an offer of employment to an applicant to work within your household has been made *subject to a health check*, what are the legal implications, both for the applicant and the employer?

Should the applicant refuse to have such a health check, where does the employer stand?

The advice we have received is that if the offer is conditional upon the health check and the applicant refuses, the condition is not fulfilled and therefore it will be difficult for the applicant to argue that a binding contract has been formed. The offer can be withdrawn.

However, if the applicant displays an obvious disability and this was a contributing factor to withdrawing the offer, then the employer runs the risk of a claim on the basis of disability discrimination.

Job offers may be made conditional on satisfactory responses to pre-employment disability or health enquiries or satisfactory health checks. However, employers must ensure they do not discriminate against a disabled job applicant on the basis of any such response. So you cannot reject an applicant purely on the grounds that a health check reveals that they have a disability. Employers should also consider at the same time whether there are reasonable adjustments that could be made in the working environment in relation to any disability disclosed by the enquiries or checks.

Where health enquiries are made after an applicant has been conditionally offered a job subject to such enquiries, employers must not use the outcome of the enquiries to discriminate against the person to whom a job offer has been made. An employer can avoid discriminating against applicants to whom they have offered jobs subject to satisfactory health checks by ensuring that any health enquiries are relevant to the job in question and that reasonable adjustments are made for disabled applicants.

Under the Equality Act 2010, it is unlawful for an employer to ask any job applicant about their disability or health until the applicant has been offered a job (whether on a conditional or unconditional basis) or has been included in a pool of successful candidates to be offered a job when a position becomes available. This includes asking such a question as part of the application process or during an interview. There are some limited exceptions to this (such as reasonable adjustments being needed for the recruitment process, monitoring purposes, where it relates to their ability to carry out a function that is intrinsic to the role).

This is potentially a complex area and the above is just a general guide. As always, we recommend seeking relevant legal advice before taking any action in this area.



Money, tax and benefits

PAYE

The biggest change to the operation of PAYE since it was introduced over 60 years ago, is what the government has termed the move to reporting PAYE information *in real time*, referred to as RTI.

Now that the change has been introduced, employers and pension providers – or agents, payroll bureaux and other intermediaries acting on their behalf – will need to report information about tax, National Insurance Contributions (NICs), student loans and other deductions before a payment subject to PAYE is made to an employee. Previously such information had to be reported only once a year, on the Employer Annual Return.

If you are not already aware of this and it falls within your area of responsibility you MUST acquaint yourself with the facts of the new system which came into force in April 2013. The Graham Agency can assist in this regard.

You must include on your payroll everyone you employ, no matter how short a time they work for you, or how little they are paid and this includes temporary and casual staff, and those who are paid below the PAYE threshold as well as those who are paid below the Lower Earnings Limit for National Insurance Contributions.

To help you get to grips with this, the government regularly produces their Employer Bulletin available on the web which spells out how the system works and what you need to do. You can register for this bulletin at <u>www.hmrc.gov.uk/gds/payerti/formsupdates/forms-publications/register.htm</u>. Alternatively, The Graham Agency can assist in this regard.

When to operate PAYE

Whether or not you need to operate PAYE (deduct Income Tax and National Insurance contributions from the employees earnings and pay employer's National Insurance contributions) depends on your employee's overall earnings.

If your employee has another job – or other taxable income, such as a pension – you'll need to operate PAYE no matter what they earn. This is because their tax-free allowances will normally be set against the pay from their main job or pension, which means tax may be due on their earnings from you.

There is a Simplified PAYE Deduction Scheme which is a way of operating PAYE that requires less form-filling than the PAYE schemes operated by most employers.

You can use the scheme if your personal or domestic employees' taxable earnings don't exceed certain levels.

If their taxable earnings are more than the current levels you must operate PAYE. The Graham Agency can assist in this regard.

Issuing pay statements

At the end of each pay period you must give your employee a record of pay and deductions and these must include the following items:



- their gross pay which is to say before the deduction of tax or National Insurance contributions as well as any other deductions,
- the amount deducted for their Class 1 National Insurance
- the actual tax that has been deducted.

However, there may also be other deductions made, dependent on the persons individual circumstances and these also have to be itemised.

Lastly, at the end of each tax year you must also give each employee who was working for you on the last day of the tax year (5 April) a form P60 end-of-year certificate. Form P60 provides a summary of the employee's total pay and tax/NICs deductions for the year. You have to provide this for your employee by 31 May.

Using a payroll agency

If you don't want to operate PAYE yourself, there are payroll agencies that will do it on your behalf. You send them details of your employee's gross wages (before tax) and they operate PAYE and prepare payslips for you. The responsibility for PAYE remains yours where you engage a payroll agent to act on your behalf. The Graham Agency can make appropriate recommendations in this regard.

Statutory Sick Pay

As an employer you're liable to pay Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) to employees who are off work sick and who meet certain qualifying conditions, including notification requirements. This sick pay is deemed to provide a minimum level of pay to employees while they are unwell. SSP is payable where an employee has been off sick for 4 days in a row (including non-working days) – you would start paying from the fourth day (if that is a normal working day). In general it is payable for 28 weeks. The employee must notify you within 7 days of any day of sickness and after 7 days you can request a doctor's note as evidence of illness.

In terms of payment, simply treat the SSP as you would their wages and continue to make all the deductions we have itemised above in the normal way and pay the employee on the normal payday.

It is important to remember that when and if you do pay SSP to an employee you must record the SSP paid on the employee's payroll record and report the information on what is known as Full Payment Submission (FPS).

See <u>https://www.gov.uk/employers-sick-pay/overview</u> for further information.

See also When employees become ill on page 12.

Statutory Maternity Pay, Ordinary and Additional Statutory Paternity Pay or Adoption Pay and Shared Parental Pay

Employees who become parents – either through birth or adoption – are entitled to pay and time off work, provided they meet certain qualifying conditions. As an employer you must make the appropriate payments to qualifying employees. See www.hmrc.gov.uk for further information.

The following shows who is entitled to what benefit payments.



- Statutory Maternity Pay (SMP) is payable for 39 weeks to mothers who are absent from work to have a baby.
- On the birth of a baby, Ordinary and Additional Statutory Paternity Pay (OSPP and ASPP) are payable to the father or to the mother's partner (male or female). OSPP and/or ASPP is also payable on adoption of a child either to the partner of a person adopting or, where a couple adopt, to the partner who doesn't apply for Statutory Adoption Pay (SAP). ASPP is not available for births and adoptions after 5 April 2015.
- SAP is payable when a child is adopted. Where a couple adopt together, only one person is entitled to SAP. For entitlement to OSPP and ASPP, mother's partner must have or expect to have main responsibility for the upbringing of the child (apart from the mother).
- Shared Parental Pay may be available for parents whose children are expected to be born or placed for adoption on or after 5 April 2015 and take shared parental leave (see page 16 – <u>Shared Parental Leave</u>).

You must only pay SMP, OSPP, ASPP or SAP if the employee meets certain qualifying conditions. You should pay these in the same way as you would make normal payments of wages and salaries. You should be able to recover some or all of the SMP, OSPP, ASPP or SAP that you pay from HMRC. There is a helpful guide and calculator at www.hmrc.gov.uk/payerti/employee/statutory-pay/smp-calc.htm

See also <u>What is the situation if your employee becomes pregnant / adopts – or their</u> <u>partner does?</u> on page 15.

Annual leave and holidays

Holiday entitlement

All workers (and therefore all employees) by law have a right to a minimum of 5.6 weeks paid annual leave. So, someone working five days a week would be entitled to 5.6 x 5, a total of 28 days. The number of days of annual leave may include the usual 8 public or bank holidays in England and Wales. Someone working two days a week would be entitled to 5.6 x 2, a total of 11.2 (which can be rounded up to 11.5) days a year. There are 9 public holidays each year in Scotland and 10 in Northern Ireland, which are included in the Statutory Entitlement of 28 days for somebody working 5 days per week and pro rata for those working less.

There is no statutory right to public holidays, so an additional public holiday does not increase any entitlement to holiday under the Working Time Regulations. Whether or not an employee will benefit from the extra public holiday will depend on the wording of their contract.

As an employer you may, of course, offer more than the statutory minimum. However the exact number of days can also be dependent on specified working hours or working pattern.

See <u>www.hmrc.gov.uk</u>

Building up and carrying over holiday entitlement

Some employers run an 'accrual system' for holiday entitlement. Alternatively you should operate a leave or holiday year which sets out the period in which you should



take your leave. Employees should give you reasonable notice before taking a holiday and this period can be agreed and built into the contract of employment.

In the first and last year of employment, holiday entitlement will be pro-rated according to the number of months worked in those years.

You cannot pay in lieu of an employee's holiday entitlement (except on termination of employment). So if an employee says that they would rather not take any holiday and would prefer to be paid their holiday at the end of each holiday year, you cannot by law pay them in lieu. When their employment comes to an end, you must pay them in lieu of any accrued, but untaken, holiday.

Calculating holiday pay

Your employee has the right to know how much holiday they are entitled to and how much they will be paid for that holiday, the information being sufficient to enable their precise entitlement to be calculated (including on termination). This information should be contained in their employment contracts (or written statement of terms and conditions).

Workers are entitled to be paid a week's pay for each week of holiday taken. When calculating how much is a week's pay, you will need to do so by reference to the kind of hours the person works and how they're paid for the hours. This includes full-time, part-time and casual workers. You may also need to take into account other payments that are closely linked to the performance of their jobs, such as overtime, commission, allowances and bonus. The calculation of holiday pay can in certain circumstances be complex and therefore if you require advice on this, please contact us.

What is the National Minimum Wage?

As an employer you're legally obliged to pay your workers at least the National Minimum Wage (NMW). The NMW applies to most workers above the school leaving age. The amount that you must pay depends on the age of the worker. HMRC is responsible for enforcing the NMW and prevailing rates can be checked on their website www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates.

The National Minimum Wage is the minimum pay per hour almost all workers are entitled to by law.

It does not matter how small an employer is, they still have to pay the minimum wage which varies according to a worker's age and if they're an apprentice.

There is also guidance on the website on working out the minimum wage for different types of work.

How much guidance should you give your employees on carrying out their work?

The contract of employment you must give your staff should spell out their duties and obligations. The best way of doing this is by attaching a job description to the contract.

It is also a good idea to provide safe working guide lines. Below are some tips you may wish to consider giving your staff.



With regard to cleaning materials and disinfectants, for example, stipulate where and how they should be stored. It is your home after all, and the safety of your family which is at issue here. All such materials should be stored out of the reach of children, or ideally in a locked cupboard with the key safely out of reach. Simple, yes, but it you spell it out, you at least have some redress when guidelines are not adhered to.

All cleaning materials used should be kept in containers which are labeled correctly with the contents and any first aid treatment necessary. Any chemicals not labeled correctly should not be used.

Providing protective gloves is a good idea where any cleaning materials are being used, and a First Aid box with eye wash, etc. should be provided and staff advised where it is kept. Stress that strong cleaning materials should not be used unless you are consulted first.

Electrical equipment

Before using electrical equipment, the user should check the electric cord for frays, breaks and defective plugs.

Before plugging in an item of equipment, the user should check to see that the equipment is switched to the off position.

If staff notice an item of equipment overheating, sparking or smoking , the user should turn off the power supply and report the incident to the

employer. Under no circumstances should the equipment be used again until checked and repaired by a competent person.

Never unplug an item of equipment by tugging on the lead, which is dangerous and can cause damage, instead always unplug an item by pull firmly on the plug.

Wet hands and electrical equipment don't mix well, staff should ensure their hands are quite dry before using an electrical item.

Lastly, your staff should never attempt a repair to defective wiring or electrical equipment, unless suitably qualified. As stated, they should report the problem and ensure it is repaired by someone with appropriate experience.

Kitchens / food handling

Cleanliness in kitchens is essential to prevent the spread of potentially harmful bacteria.

It is in your own interest to provide colour coded kitchen cutting boards to reduce the risk of cross contamination. i.e. the transfer of harmful bacteria from one food product to another via the most common routes, equipment, tools, hands and cutting/chopping boards. Wall charts are available which specify which colour boards are to be used with which products. Without wishing to insult your domestic staff, it is wise to discuss with them their understanding (or not) of safe practices including washing hands after handling raw meat for example and not using the same knife for raw meats and other products, or at the very least thoroughly washing them after each type of usage.

For reference, The different colours of chopping boards and their uses is as follows: Red – Raw meat, Blue – Raw fish, Yellow – Cooked meat, Green – Salad and Fruits, Brown –Vegetables and White – Bakery and Dairy.



Information should be given to anyone preparing food within your home, regarding any food allergies of family members, and if that is the case, advice as to how to avoid these substances. Typical substances will be: milk based products, wheat, gluten, peanuts. Similarly, if there are religious requirements or vegetarians/vegans, details should be explained to the new member of staff.

Advice should be given as to what actions to be taken should someone ingest something to which they are allergic. Your doctor will advise you in this respect.

The name of your family doctor should also be given to your domestic staff member in the event that someone becomes ill while you are absent.

When employees become ill

A domestic staff member, housekeeper, carer, nanny, etc. can very quickly become someone who is heavily relied on (nobody really being indispensable, although we often use that term).

When they are off sick, we generally manage or muddle through in the anticipation that they will not be away from work for too long a period.

But what happens when that sickness absence becomes extended? What can you do and what are your options?

Of course it depends upon a whole variety of circumstances and the relationship you and perhaps your family has with the person in question. In many instances you will cut them as much slack as possible and hope that the issue will be resolved.

But there are occasions when the sickness absence becomes a long term sick issue. But do we know when that is? What our rights are? How to resolve the unsatisfactory situation?

So let's look at some of the rules and some of the guidance.

- Employees who are off work sick for more than 4 weeks may be considered long-term sick.
- Whilst you can dismiss an employee is on long term sick, a proper procedure must be followed and we would recommend you take appropriate legal advice before you do so to minimise the risk of any claims being brought against you.
- If an employee has a disability, it is important that you consider and implement appropriate reasonable adjustments to enable the employee to do their job (for example adjusting working hours or providing appropriate equipment). This is a duty required by law. If you require assistance with this duty, then we would recommend legal advice is sought before any action is taken.

The rules regarding sickness and a doctor's note have changed in recent years.

Essentially, the old concept of a sick note from the doctor was phased out in 2010 and replaced by what is termed a "Fit note".

An employee only needs to provide such a note after seven days of sickness absence to satisfy the certification requirement for statutory sick pay. Employers can ask employees to fill in a form when they return to work to confirm they've been off sick. This is called 'self-certification'. Some employers provide their own version of this form.

The fit note issued by a GP, or doctor at a hospital, will say the employee is either 'not fit for work' or 'may be fit for work'.



If it says the employee 'may be fit for work', employers should discuss any changes that might help the employee return to work (e.g. different hours or tasks). The employee must be treated as 'not fit for work' if there's no agreement on these changes.

Employers can take a copy of the fit note but the employee should keep the original.

See <u>Statutory Maternity Pay</u>, <u>Ordinary and Additional Statutory Paternity Pay or</u> Adoption Pay on page 9.

Don't pay employees in cash

If you are paying your domestic staff in cash, beware. HMRC will be looking for YOU.

Make no mistake, the authorities have embarked on a determined drive to catch those who often pay cash to staff so that the level of legitimate pay entitles that person to state benefits, thereby avoiding the necessity of complying with tax regulations, paying income tax and National Insurance contributions.

Other methods of avoiding payments include: providing free accommodation, or staff sharing with another family. If an employee lives in the same house as their employer this is not treated by HMRC as a benefit in kind, however if separate accommodation is rented by the employer for the employee, this is a benefit in kind and is therefore taxable.

It's simply too expensive for the government to ignore. It is estimated that in just one recent year HMRC lost an estimated £57 million through tax evasion as a result of cash payments to just one category of domestic staff – nannies.

Of the 30,000 nannies working in the UK, a survey recently indicated that a fifth worked on a cash basis. The new penalties will be high: all the back tax, plus a 100% fine, HMRC have already stated that the culprits are not difficult to find as when an employee leaves and starts a new job, the previous payment and avoidance becomes immediately apparent.

Discrimination

By law, you cannot discriminate against your workers because of their age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation.

There are many types of discrimination including direct discrimination (e.g. treating an old person less favorably than a young person because of their age) and harassment (e.g. subjecting someone to unwanted conducted related to their disability which violates their dignity or creates an intimidating, hostile, humiliating or degrading environment). There are other types of discrimination too.

For further information, see <u>https://www.gov.uk/employer-preventing-discrimination</u>. It is best to seek independent advice if you have any issues relating to discrimination.

One issue that has recently been in the courts is the wearing of religious symbols. There have been two decisions in the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) about whether the employer in each case breached the employee's human rights by refusing to allow them to wear a crucifix. The ECtHR ruled in one case that the decision of the employers to dismiss the member of staff was valid as the wearing of a crucifix could have impinged on health and safety issues. However, in the second case, the ECtHR ruled in favour of the employee as the stated aim of the employers



in enforcing a dress code was to project a corporate image, which they did not find to be a legitimate aim.

So, you may not agree with your staff member wearing the symbol of a religion which perhaps does not match your own beliefs, but there are lessons to be learned from these judgements. It seems that while health and safety may provide a legitimate reason for dictating that a cross should not be worn, dismissing someone simply because it offends you or you disagree in principle with the concept, does not provide you with cause for dismissal.

As always, think twice and then take professional advice before taking action to avoid costly litigation.

Do I have to pay my employee a pension?

Pension deductions

"I don't have to enrol my nanny/housekeeper/carer et al, into a pension scheme, I'm not a company so it doesn't apply to me!" If that's what you think you are wrong!

It does, you ARE an employer and as such fall within the government's new automatic enrolment of staff into a pension scheme AND make a contribution for them. It is a changing world with changing responsibilities.

This, one of the responsibilities the government says we must take on, is to ensure people put money into a pension fund as the state can't afford a system which will pay it all for a growing and ageing population.

This is the first time employers have been obliged to provide a contributory pension. All employers, even the smallest, will have to respond to the new legislation and it will have a significant impact on costs and resources.

Auto-enrolment is being introduced over several years, starting with the biggest employers. Contributions are being phased in gradually too.

There are key dates as the system will be rolled out over a period of time, with the largest first and the smallest last. Visit: <u>http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk</u> for more information. All employers will soon have to enrol all of their eligible staff in a pension scheme automatically and make contributions for them.

The first step is to find out when you have to begin auto-enrolling. The Pensions Regulator's website explains how to work out your "staging date".

The new rules will apply to everyone who is aged between 16 and 74 who works in the UK and for whom you deduct income tax and National Insurance contributions from their wages.

As an employer your duties will be based on the ages and earnings of your staff on your staging date (which could be some years from now). However, the Pensions Regulator website has a calculator which if you input your current staff age(s) and gross earnings will give you an overall picture of your obligations.

What is the situation if your employee becomes pregnant / adopts – or their partner does?

If your female employee becomes pregnant, she is entitled to the following rights:



- Time off for antenatal appointments.
- Health and safety protection while pregnant and breastfeeding.
- Up to 52 weeks' maternity leave, regardless of length of service. The first two weeks from childbirth must be taken by all employees as compulsory leave.
- Statutory maternity pay (SMP) for up to 39 weeks (subject to eligibility).
- The right to return to the same job (or a suitable alternative in certain circumstances).
- Priority for alternative employment in redundancy cases.
- The right to request flexible working conditions on return to work.
- Protection from dismissal, detriment or discrimination by reason of pregnancy or maternity.

Their husband or partner is currently entitled to two weeks of ordinary paternity leave and up to 26 weeks' paid additional paternity leave – but only if the mother / co-adopter returns to work and subject to eligibility.

Visit <u>https://www.gov.uk/paternity-pay-leave</u> for more details.

A woman must notify her employer no later than the end of the 15th week before the expected week of birth (or, if that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as is reasonably practicable) that she is pregnant and provide the expected week of birth and when she intends her Ordinary Maternity Leave to start.

The partner must also notify their employer no later than the end of the 15th week before the expected week of birth (or, if that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as is reasonably practicable) that their partner is pregnant (and that they are an eligible partner) and provide expected week of birth and when they intend for their Ordinary Paternity Leave to start.

Adoption

An employee who adopts is entitled to the following:

- Up to 52 weeks' adoption leave (subject to minimum qualifying requirements).
- Statutory adoption pay for up to 39 weeks (subject to eligibility).
- The right to return to the same job (or, in certain circumstances, to return to a suitable and appropriate alternative job).
- Protection from detriment or dismissal relating to adoption leave.
- Priority to be offered suitable alternative employment in a redundancy situation.
- An employee who qualifies to take ordinary adoption leave (i.e. the first 26 weeks OAL) must comply with applicable notification and evidential requirements to take their OAL.

For further information, see <u>https://www.gov.uk/employers-adoption-pay-leave</u>

Shared Parental Leave

The government's new shared parental leave scheme will have a direct impact on many employers, including households which employ just one member of domestic staff.



The recently introduced scheme is available for parents whose child's expected week of childbirth or adoption placement date is on or after 5 April 2015. Both parents will be able to share the one year maternity leave period, dividing time between them or even to take time off together. This is an optional scheme for parents, but could have a major impact on the availability of your staff.

During the 52 weeks of maternity leave, a mother can end her maternity leave early and, with her partner, opt for shared parental leave instead so that whatever time is left to run on her original year can be:

- taken off by her partner instead; or
- divided between the two of them (i.e. each taking short periods in turns);

or

- taken together (i.e. if the couple take 6 weeks off together, this will use 12 weeks of the leave); or
- utilised in separate blocks (i.e. the mother could return to work for 2 months then take a further period of time as parental leave)

Note that the mother must take the first two weeks of maternity leave herself as compulsory maternity leave.

Other recent changes include an increase in unpaid parental leave from 13 to 18 weeks (from March 2013); from 1 October 2014 the right for men to take unpaid leave to attend two antenatal appointments with their partner, as well as the age limit on parental leave to increase from 5 years to 18 years from 5 April 2015.

For more information see <u>www.hmrc.gov.uk</u>.

See also <u>Statutory Maternity Pay</u>, <u>Ordinary and Additional Statutory Paternity Pay</u>, <u>Adoption Pay and Shared Parental Pay</u> on page 9.

Flexible working

As of June 2014, all employees with 26 weeks' continuous service are now entitled to make a request to their employer for flexible working arrangements.

The right is only to make a request, so they do not have an automatic right to work flexibly. They may request a change to working hours or working location. This encompasses a wide range of working patterns, such as job sharing, part-time working, compressed hours and flexitime. For example, an employee might make a request to work flexibly alongside a further education or training course, or in order to combine working with helping to care for dependents. However, an eligible employee might also make a request simply in order to spend less time at work.

Employees are only permitted to make one request in any 12-month period.

As an employer, you have a duty to deal with requests in a "reasonable manner". In any event, all requests (including any appeals) must be considered and decided within three months of receipt, unless an extension is agreed by both parties.

What is reasonable in one situation may not be reasonable in another, so it is important that you consider each case on its facts. If you receive a request, you must arrange to meet with the employee to discuss their request as soon as possible. You must consider the request objectively, on its individual facts, and come to a decision by weighing up the benefits and costs of the requested change to both the employee and you.



Employers may only reject flexible working requests for one or more of the following eight specified business reasons:

- the burden of additional costs;
- detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer demand;
- inability to reorganize work among existing staff;
- inability to recruit additional staff;
- detrimental impact on quality;
- detrimental impact on performance;
- insufficiency of work during the periods the employee proposes to work;
- planned structural changes.

The ACAS Code of Practice and its accompanying ACAS Guide provide some helpful guidance on these grounds for rejecting requests, including when they might apply. The ACAS Guide may be found at: <u>http://www.acas.org.uk/media/pdf/m/9/Handling-requests-to-work-flexibly-in-a-reasonable-manner-an-Acas-guide.pdf</u>.

You may treat a request as withdrawn if the employee fails to attend meetings to discuss the request or appeal on two pre-arranged occasions without good reason.

Terminating employment

If you have employed a person for at least 2 years or more (continuously), then they are entitled not to be unfairly dismissed (although there are certain circumstances where the 2-year rule does not apply).

If you wish to terminate an employee's employment, to avoid a claim for unfair dismissal, it must be for a "potentially fair" reason (as prescribed by law) and must also be reasonable. It is important that you follow a proper procedure before terminating employment to minimise the risk of a finding of unfair dismissal. It is a good idea to have a written procedure for dealing with grievances or disciplinary issues for this purpose. The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) has a Code of Practice containing a minimum procedure which you can adopt for your own use. Visit <u>www.acas.org.uk</u> for more details.

You must also ensure you provide the employee with their full notice entitlements before dismissing them (unless you are dismissing for gross misconduct – in which case further advice should be sought). Employees are entitled to minimum notice periods prescribed by law (or you can provide for longer periods of notice in their employment contract).

We would recommend you seek legal advice before terminating someone's employment, to ensure that you do not fall foul of the law.

When employees leave, do you have to write a reference?

As an employer of domestic staff you will either have been asked to provide a reference to a staff member leaving your employ, or have asked for a prospective candidate to provide a reference.

But are YOU, as that employer, obliged to provide a reference?



As nearly always, nothing is quite as simple as it seems. In essence, the answer is, no, you do not HAVE to (unless the person's contract of employment specifies so) however, there are potential pitfalls here.

If you do decide to provide a reference, ensure it is truthful and accurate to avoid any claims for negligent misstatement.

Do be aware that an ex-employee could try to rely on your refusal to provide a reference or provision of a negative reference in claims for victimisation, detrimental treatment, discrimination or for reputational damage. Therefore, if you do not wish to provide a positive reference, you could provide a factual reference, simply confirming the person's dates of employment and role.

The person asking you for the reference does not have the right to see it before it is sent, even though they may ask.



With respect to all the issues addressed in this guide, we would always recommend taking professional advice before taking any actions and ALWAYS use a reputable and experienced specialist employment agency to find your staff and assist with such issues. The Graham Agency fulfils this role professionally.

9 November 2015



About The Graham Agency

The Graham Agency is and has been for 26 years consistently committed to providing the highest standards of personal service to clients and domestic staff candidates.

We pride ourselves on understanding the unique requirements of each client through personalised contact, discussion and appreciation of their individual circumstances. We recognise the special relationship between clients and their domestic staff, matching not just individual skills and experience, but also acting as both catalyst and link to establish a rapport for mutual benefit.

The Graham Agency – matching clients and prospective staff through personal service.

020 8348 1767

020 7118 0166

diana@thegrahamagency.co.uk

Second Floor Berkeley Square House Berkeley Square Mayfair London W1J 6BD 7a Southwood Hall Muswell Hill Road London N6 5UF

Visitors by appointment only